RECEIVED

Aug 18 2023

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2022-CP-27-00524

Appellate Case No. 2023-001003

Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, Leon Smith,
Leon Smith DBA “Eats & Sweets Bakery &
Café,” and Albert Kleckley, Jr.....Respondent,

v.

Nicole Burnham.....Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

August 18, 2023

s/ Troy A. Williams
Troy A. Williams
S.C. Bar No. 103772
Roden Law Firm
127 King St., Suite 200
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
(843) 790-8999
Attorney for Appellant

Counsel for Respondents:
Barnwell Whaley Patterson & Helms, LLC

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the trial court erred in dismissing Plaintiff's Amended Complaint.
2. Whether the Amended Complaint relates back to the original pleading.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arises out of an incident that occurred in Jasper County on November 7, 2019. Plaintiff/Appellant Nicole Burnham was injured when she slipped and fell at "Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café" while leaving its premises as a customer.

On November 2, 2022, Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint naming "Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café" as a Defendant. On November 7, 2022, the three-year statute of limitations governing Plaintiff's claims ran. On December 22, 2022, Plaintiff filed her first Amended Complaint naming Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA "Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café" and Albert Kleckley Jr. The Amended Complaint did not assert any additional causes of action. Thereafter, on January 31, 2023, all Defendants were served pursuant to Rule 3(b)(2), SCRCF, with a true copy of the Summons and Complaint and a true copy of the Amended Summons and Complaint. An Affidavit of Service for all Defendants was filed on April 14, 2023.

On February 24, 2023, Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss on the grounds Plaintiff's Amended Complaint was barred by the statute of limitations. Plaintiff filed her Response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss on March 31, 2023. Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Amended Complaint was heard on April 20, 2023. Thereafter, on May 16, 2023, the Honorable R. Keith Kelly issued an Order dismissing Plaintiff's Amended Complaint with prejudice.

On June 15, 2023, Plaintiff electronically filed her proof of service of a Notice of Appeal on Defendants (Respondents) and served her Notice of Appeal on Respondents. Appellant now submits this Initial Brief to this Court and Respondents.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant requests this Court review the trial court's dismissal de novo. The essence of the de novo standard of review is that the appellate court must not simply accept the factual findings of the trial court but instead must diligently review the record to make findings of fact based upon its own review of the preponderance of the evidence. *Wilson v. Gandis*, 430 S.C. 282, 306 (2020). A review de novo permits appellate court fact-finding, notwithstanding the presence of evidence supporting the trial court's findings. *Lewis v. Lewis*, 392 S.C. 381, 390, 709 S.E.2d 650, 654-55 (2011).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in dismissing Appellant's Amended Complaint because it is not time-barred, as the civil action was commenced within the statute of limitations was properly filed and served upon Defendants in accordance with Rules 3(a) and 15(a), SCRPC. In addition, the Appellant's amendment(s) to the original Complaint to properly identify the Respondents relates back to the date of the original pleading, in accordance with Rule 15(c), SCRPC. Lastly, Respondent Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café is capable of being sued pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-160, even as a non-legal entity. Therefore, Appellant should have her claim decided on the merits.

ARGUMENT

I. Appellant's Amended Complaint is not time-barred as the civil action was commenced within the statute of limitations was properly filed and served upon Defendants in accordance with Rules 3(a) and 15(a), SCRPC.

Pursuant to S.C. Code § 15-3-530, an action for liability must be brought within three (3) years of the date of the incident. "A civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court if:

- (1) the summons and complaint are served within the statute of limitations in any manner prescribed by law; or,
- (2) if not served within the statute of limitations, actual service must be accomplished not later than one hundred twenty days after filing.”

Rule 3(a), SCRCPP; *See also* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-20(b).

After the commencement of a civil action, “a party may amend her pleading once as a matter of course at any time before or within thirty (30) days after a responsive pleading is served or, if the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is required and the action has not been placed upon the trial roster, she may so amend it at any time within thirty (30) days after it is served.” SCRCPP Rule 15(a); *See Mims v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 399 S.C. 341, 347, 732 S.E. 2d 395, 398 (2012).

In *Mims*, the plaintiff filed a summons and complaint, and no service of process was achieved after one (1) year passed. *Id.* at 343. Thereafter, the plaintiff filed an amended summons and complaint, naming at least one party that was not previously identified in the original summons and complaint. *Id.* The named defendants were then served with the amended summons and complaint a few days later. *Id.* The Supreme Court noted the amendment to Rule 3(a), SCRCPP, of provides a safeguard to claimants when the filing of the summons and complaint occurs near the end of the statute of limitations and where service is made after the limitations period has run. *Id.* The Court in *Mims* concluded, in light of the legislative intent in amending S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-20(b) and Rule 3(a), SCRCPP, Rule 15(a) allows the filing and service of an amended complaint without leave of court, even if the original complaint has not been served.

This premises liability matter arises out of a slip and fall incident that occurred in Jasper County on November 7, 2019. Appellant suffered injuries when she slipped and fell at/on the Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café premises. To date, liability has been disputed.

Thereafter, on November 2, 2022, Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint naming “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café” as the Defendant, properly commencing a civil action. On November 7, 2022, the three-year statute of limitations governing Plaintiff’s claims ran. On December 22, 2022, Plaintiff filed her first Amended Complaint naming Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café” and Albert Kleckley Jr. The Amended Complaint did not assert any additional causes of action. Thereafter, on January 31, 2023, all Defendants were timely served within the one hundred twenty (120) days after filing with a true copy of the Summons and Complaint, as permitted by Rule 3(a)(2), SCRCPP. In addition Defendants were also served with a true copy of the Amended Summons and Complaint. An Affidavit of Service for all Defendants was filed on April 14, 2023.

Here, Appellant’s filing of her Amended Complaint is permitted pursuant to Rule 15(a) as the original Complaint had not yet been served. Thus, if no responsive pleading has been filed, one has the right to file one amended pleading at any time until the case is placed on the trial roster. In this case, no responsive pleading had been filed, thus Plaintiff was permitted to file an Amended Complaint.

II. The amendment(s) to the original Complaint to properly identify the Respondents relates back to the date of the original pleading, in accordance with Rule 15(c), SCRCPP.

Rule 15(c), SCRCPP states:

Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleadings, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading. An amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back if the foregoing provision is satisfied and, within the period provided by law for commencing the action against him the party to be brought in by amendment (1) has received such notice of the institution of the action that he will not be prejudiced in maintaining his defense on the merits, and (2) knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against him.

Rule 15(c), SCRPC.

In *Gause v. Smithers*, this court distinguished the difference between adding and changing parties. *Gause v. Smithers*, 384 S.C. 130, 681 S.E.2d 607 (2009), citing *Jackson v. Doe*, 342 S.C. 552 (Ct. App. 2000). Specifically, this court did not allow the addition of a defendant to a negligence action because it determined “the second paragraph of Rule 15(c) only applied to a substitution or change in party, not the addition of a defendant.” *Id.* at 132.

South Carolina’s Civil Rules of Procedure are substantially similar to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and, in many circumstances, are interpreted similarly. Under Rule 15(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a defendant added via an amended pleading must receive notice of the lawsuit between the filing of the original complaint and the end of the 120-day period prescribed by Rule 4(m), FRCP.

Instructively, the Fourth Circuit has similarly addressed the addition and/or changing of parties pursuant to Rule 15, FRCP.

[A]n amendment that changes the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back to the date of the original pleading if (1) the claim in the amended complaint arose out of the same transaction that formed the basis of the claim in the original complaint; (2) the party to be brought in by the amendment received notice of the action such that it will not be prejudiced in maintaining a defense to the claim; and (3) it should have known that it would have originally been named a defendant "but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party.

Goodman v. PraxAir, Inc., 494 F.3d 458, 471 (4th Cir. 2007); Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(c)(2), (3). “The limitations of Rule 15(c)(3) thus only apply when the policies underlying limitations rules may be trampled.” *Goodman*, 494 F.3d 458, 471 (4th Cir. 2007). Arguments to the contrary may be made, but “when a defendant has had notice from the beginning that the plaintiff sets up and is trying to enforce a claim against it because of specified conduct, the reasons for the statute of limitations do not exist, and we are of opinion that a liberal rule should be applied.” *Id.*

In addition, the South Carolina District Court has explored this very issue of purportedly “adding” parties to an amended complaint. In *McKnight v. Iceberg Enters. LLC*, the court looked to whether an additional defendant received appropriate notice of the action and whether it would be unfairly prejudiced if the plaintiff’s claims were allowed to be decided on the merits. *McKnight v. Iceberg Enters. LLC*, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 87816, WL 2418870. The court further indicated it could “discern no policy that would be served by the...defendants' restrictive reading of 'changes,' which would force the amending party to drop a defendant for each defendant he adds.” *Id.*

Here, this matter differs from that in *Gause* as the Amended Complaint merely corrects for the original misidentification of Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café. The trade name by which it operates, while not itself a registered business entity, consists of multiple people and/or other entities, all of whom were identified by Appellant in her Amended Complaint. Furthermore, Respondent has and will likely continue to claim that Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café is an unregistered business/non-legal entity, and it will likely further claim that it cannot be sued. If we assume that to be true, the Defendants named in the Amended Complaint would functionally serve as a change in parties rather than an addition to a party claimed to be a non-existent legal entity.

In congruence with the federal rule permitting the addition of new parties to an amended pleading, all of the Respondents who had been served with the original Summons and Complaint and the Amended Summons and Complaint were given fair notice of the claim within the limitations period. As such, when none of the Respondents would suffer an improper prejudice in defending the merits of Appellants cause of action, the liberal amendment policies influencing our procedural rules favor relation-back in this matter.

Whereas the original Summons and Complaint only identifies Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café as the sole Defendant, Appellant misidentified the necessary parties against whom she intended to bring her cause of action. It was not until after her filing of the original Summons and Complaint and the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations that Defendant Eats & Sweets Bakery and Café was properly identified as Defendant Leon Smith, Defendant Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery and Café, and/or Albert Kleckley, Jr—all of whom are affiliated with the trade name and/or business name “Eats & Sweets Bakery and Café.” As Appellant became aware of this fact that she had mistakenly identified these Defendants as one unregistered business entity, she corrected her pleading, pursuant to Rule 15(c), SCRPC.

By this measure, Appellant contends Respondents received such notice of the institution of the action brought against them when they were actually served via process server with a copy of the original Summons and Complaint. One or more Respondents knew or should have known that the original Summons and Complaint, identifying each of them via the business trade name, was being brought against them, regardless of their mistaken identity. Appellant further contends this does not prejudice any of the Respondents, neither collectively nor individually, as they were aware of the lawsuit the moment they were served.

Regardless, should this Court find that Defendants Leon Smith in his individual capacity and Albert Kleckley, Jr. as the land owner too far from the scope to be considered to fall under the umbrella of “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café”, Leon Smith DBA “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café” should still be considered a Defendant in this case. Even opposing counsel has admitted on the record that Leon Smith DBA “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café” would be a proper defendant pursuant to Rule 15 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. During the hearing for the

Motion to Dismiss, Mr. Stoney, attorney for Respondents, stated “I think that certainly the --- the restaurant itself, would be proper within the statute.”

III. Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café is capable of being sued pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-160.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-160, all unincorporated associations may be sued and proceeded against under the name and style by which they are usually known without naming the individual members of the association. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-160; *See* *Graham v. Lloyd’s of London*, 296 S.C. 249, 255-56 371 S.E. 2d 801, 804 (1988).

In *Graham*, the South Carolina Court of Appeals addressed the issue where an unincorporated association was named as a defendant in the lawsuit. The court held that S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-160 provided a plaintiff with a procedure by which they can bring the members of an association before the court without naming and serving process upon them individually. *Id.* at 255-56. The court concluded that the statute does not destroy or create substantive liability and that once the members are before the court, the liability of each member will be determined by the applicable substantive law. *Id.* at 256.

The statute operates as a procedural placeholder when the business is carried on within the scope of the terms “company,” “association,” or “individuals”. Here, “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café” is the business and/or trade name under which a particular group (specifically, Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café”, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. all together) conduct their/its business.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Appellant requests that this Court reverse the trial court’s Order Dismissing Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint and remand to the trial court for this matter to be decided on the merits.