THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM JASPER COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001003  
Court of Common Pleas No. 2022-CP-27-00524

---

Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA  
“Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café,” and Albert Kleckley, Jr. .... Respondents,

v.

Nicole Burnham ..... Appellant

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Randell C. Stoney, Jr., Esq. (S.C. #5375)  
John W. Fletcher, Esq. (S.C. #69550)  
BARNWELL WHALEY PATTERSON &  
HELMS, LLC  
211 King Street, Suite 300 (29401)  
PO Drawer H  
Charleston, SC 29402

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

## ARGUMENT

### A. Standard of Review

Under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, a party may move to dismiss a complaint against him based on a failure to state facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. *See Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006). "In reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC, the appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court." *Cricket Cove Ventures, LLC v. Gilland*, 390 S.C. 312, 321, 701 S.E.2d 39, 44 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing *Doe v. Marion*, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007)). "In considering a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the circuit court must base its ruling solely on the allegations set forth in the complaint." *See Cole Vision Corp. v. Hobbs*, 394 S.C. 144, 148, 714 S.E.2d 537, 539 (2011).

The standard of review "requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case." *See Grimsley v. South Carolina Law Enforcement Div.*, 396 S.C. 276, 281, 721 S.E.2d 423, 426 (2012) (quoting *Rydde v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). "If the facts alleged and inferences deducible therefrom would entitle the plaintiff to any relief, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper." *See Grimsley*, 396 S.C. at 281, 721 S.E.2d at 426 (citing *Sloan Constr. Co. v. Southco Grassing, Inc.*, 377 S.C. 108, 113, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008)).

For the reasons that follow, under this standard, Judge Kelly properly granted Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and dismissed all claims in this case with prejudice.

**B. The Trial Court Properly Dismissed All Claims Against Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith d/b/a Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. as Time-Barred Under the Governing Statute of Limitations.**

**1. Plaintiff's Claims Are Time-Barred Because the Statute of Limitations Began to Run on Plaintiff's Claims Against Newly Named Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA "Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. More Than Three-Years Prior to Plaintiff's Filing of the Amended Complaint.**

For the reasons that follow, Judge Kelly properly dismissed as time-bared the Amended Complaint's claims against newly-added Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA "Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr.

Plaintiff does not dispute that the statute of limitations on all of her claims began to run on November 7, 2019 and expired on November 7, 2022. (*See* Pl.'s Init. Br. of Appellant, at 7 ("On November 7, 2022, the three-year statute of limitations governing Plaintiff's claims ran.")). She further concedes that "[o]n December 22, 2022, Plaintiff filed her first Amended Complaint naming Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA 'Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café' and Albert Kleckley Jr." (*See id.*). She additionally notes that "[t]he Amended Complaint did not assert any additional causes of action." (*See id.*). Plaintiff's Initial Brief of Appellant does not suggest that she properly named any of these Defendants prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations.

Plaintiff's Initial Brief of Appellant does not dispute the facts underlying Judge Kelly's Order Dismissing Complaints or his statement that "[i]t was not until December 22, 2022, more than three years after the alleged accident, that Plaintiff filed her Amended Complaint to add new Defendants, at which point, she was time-barred from proceeding with any claims against Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr." (*See* May 16, 2023 Order Dism. Compls., at 3). It is beyond any dispute that Plaintiff's claims against the newly-added Defendants were time-barred and stale when she filed them on December 22, 2022. Therefore, this Court should affirm the trial court's dismissal of the claims in the Amended Complaint against these newly-added parties.

**2. Plaintiff's Reliance on Rule 3(a) Is Misplaced.**

Plaintiff's Initial Brief of Appellant argues that her claims against newly-added Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. are timely under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 3(a); which provides that:

A civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court if:

- (1) the summons and complaint are served within the statute of limitations in any manner prescribed by law; or,
- (2) if not served within the statute of limitations, actual service must be accomplished not later than one hundred twenty days after filing.”

*See id.; accord* S.C. Code § 15-3-20(B) ("A civil action is commenced when the summons and complaint are filed with the clerk of court if actual service is accomplished within one hundred twenty days after filing."). Specifically, she argues:

[O]n November 2, 2022, Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint naming “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café” as the Defendant, properly commencing a civil action. On November 7, 2022, the three-year statute of limitations governing Plaintiff’s claims ran. On December 22, 2022, Plaintiff filed her first Amended Complaint naming Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA “Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café” and Albert Kleckley Jr. The Amended Complaint did not assert any additional causes of action. Thereafter, on January 31, 2023, all Defendants were timely served within the one hundred twenty (120) days after filing with a true copy of the Summons and Complaint, as permitted by Rule 3(a)(2), SCRCF. In addition Defendants were also served with a true copy of the Amended Summons and Complaint. An Affidavit of Service for all Defendants was filed on April 14, 2023.

(*See* Init. Br. of Appellant, at 7).

For the reasons that follow, Plaintiff's reliance on Rule 3(a) does not support her contention that Judge Kelly erred in dismissing her late-filed claims against Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. As a result, the Court should affirm Judge Kelly's dismissal of those claims.

a. **Plaintiff Did Not Properly Preserve Any Argument Under S.C Code § 15-5-160 for Appellate Review.**

Initially, the Court may not consider Plaintiff's argument under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 3(a) because she did not preserve this issue for appellate review.

"It is well settled that, but for a very few exceptional circumstances, an appellate court cannot address an issue unless it was raised to and ruled upon by the trial court." *Lucas v. Rawl Family Ltd. P'ship*, 359 S.C. 505, 510-11, 598 S.E.2d 712, 715 (2004); *accord Tucker v. Doe*, 413 S.C. 389, 409, 776 S.E.2d 121, 132 (Ct. App. 2015) ("[A]n issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.") (citation omitted); *In re Michael H.*, 360 S.C. 540, 546, 602 S.E.2d 729, 732 (2004). "An issue not presented to the trial court is not preserved for appellate review." *See State v. Dickey*, 380 S.C. 384, 403, 669 S.E.2d 917, 927 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *State v. Johnson*, 324 S.C. 38, 41, 476 S.E.2d 681, 682 (1996)). Under these standards, Plaintiff did not preserve her current argument that her amendment adding Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. was timely under Rule 3(a).

Initially, it should be noted that Plaintiff's Response to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss does not cite or reference Rule 3(a) or the argument that she currently makes. (See Pl.'s March 31, 2023 Resp. to Def.'s Mot. to Dismiss). Respectfully, Plaintiff did not properly raise this issue for the trial judge to consider and rule upon in the first instance. As a result, she cannot now seek appellate review or consideration of this issue.

Even if Plaintiff sufficiently made this argument to the trial judge, she did not preserve the issue for appellate review because Judge Kelly did not rule on it. The May 16, 2023 Order Dismissing Complaints does not reference, in any way, whether Plaintiff timely commenced this action against Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. under Rule 3(a) because she originally sued *other* defendants within the statutory period and served process within 120 days. (See generally May 16, 2023 Order Dism. Compls.). With regard to Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert

Kleckley, Jr., Judge Kelly held only that the claims were time-barred because it "was not until December 22, 2022, more than three years after the alleged accident, that Plaintiff filed her Amended Complaint to add new Defendants, at which point, she was time-barred from proceeding with any claims against" them. (*See id.* at 3).

"When an issue is raised to but not ruled upon by the trial court, the issue is preserved for appeal only if the party raises the same issue in a Rule 59(e) motion." *Chastain v. Hiltabidle*, 381 S.C. 508, 515, 673 S.E.2d 826, 829 (Ct. App. 2009); *accord BMW of N. Am., LLC v. Complete Auto Recon Servs.*, 399 S.C. 444, 454, 731 S.E.2d 902, 908 (Ct. App. 2012) ("Additionally, the record is devoid of any evidence BMW ever filed a Rule 59(e) motion. As a result, this issue is not preserved for our review."). Plaintiff never filed a Rule 59(e) motion to request that Judge Kelly rule on this issue. As a result, she has waived any right to appellate review of this question.

Therefore, for the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm Judge Kelly's dismissal of Plaintiff's claims against Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr.

**b. Even If She Preserved This Issue for Appellate Review, S.C.R. Civ. P. 3(a) Does Not Make Plaintiffs' Claims Against Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. Timely.**

Even if Plaintiff preserved this issue for appellate review, the law is clear that Judge Kelly's dismissal of the claims against Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. was proper under Rule 3(a).

In her Brief of Appellant, Plaintiff cites *Mims v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 399 S.C. 341, 347, 732 S.E. 2d 395, 398 (2012), in support of this argument. In *Mims*, on May 29, 2007, the plaintiff sued Babcock Center and the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, claiming sexual abuse while under their care. Plaintiff never served process, but an attorney indicated that Babcock Center had received process and that he would be appearing for it. Almost a year later, on May 7, 2008, plaintiff amended the complaint that, *inter alia*, added two defendants. The trial court dismissed the action without prejudice because the original and amended complaint were not

served within 120 days of the filing of the lawsuit. As a result, the lawsuit never "commenced" and the amendment almost a year after the suit was filed was a nullity.

Unlike this case, the statute of limitations was not the issue in *Mims*. Rather, the question was whether service within 120 days was a requirement for the commencement of *any* action (even one that is not time-barred):

In the current appeal, the trial court read section 15-3-20(B) to require actual service to be made within 120 days of filing in all cases. *However, under this interpretation, an action filed and served within the statute of limitations could be deemed untimely and subject to dismissal.* In amending Rule 3(a), SCRPC, this Court recognized that the legislative intent in amending section 15-3-20(B) in 2002 was to provide a safety net for cases where filing of the summons and complaint occurs near the end of the statute of limitations and service is made after the limitations period has run. The statute and the rule, read together, provide that (1) an action is commenced upon filing the summons and complaint, if service is made within the statute of limitations, and (2) if filing but not service is accomplished within the statute of limitations, then service must be made within 120 days of filing.

*See id.*, 399 S.C. at 346, 732 S.E.2d at 397-98.

As to the originally-named Defendant ("Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café"), Rule 3(a) would provide that this action was timely because it was: (a) filed before the statute of limitations expired as to that party; and (b) was served within 120 days of filing (even if service occurred after the statute of limitations expired). However, Defendants do not argue that the claim against Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café are time barred, as it was named as a defendant within the statutory period. On the other hand, Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. were never named in any pleading prior to the expiration of the statute of limitations. Therefore, Plaintiff's claims against those Defendants are absolutely time-barred.

A necessary condition precedent to the application of Rule 3(a) is that the Defendant be sued within the statute of limitations. Rule 3(a) merely gives the plaintiff who files a lawsuit at the last minute some time to serve process after the statute expires. However, Rule 3(a) does not do what Plaintiff claims that it does. Plaintiff has not cited to any authority that would allow a plaintiff to *name* a defendant outside of the statute of limitations, which is precisely what occurred

in this case. Rule 3(a) only allows an action that is timely filed as to a defendant to be served outside of the statute of limitations (within 120 days after filing of the lawsuit).

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm Judge Kelly's dismissal of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint against Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr.

c. **Judge Kelly Correctly Concluded that Plaintiff's Amendment to Add Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. Was Improper and Did Not Relate Back to the Original Filing of the Complaint.**

Defendant Plaintiff argues in this appeal that her claims against Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. are timely because her Amended Complaint "related back" to the date of the filing of her initial Complaint. For the reasons that follow, Plaintiff's arguments are in error.

First, while Defendants do not dispute that Plaintiff had a right to amend her Complaint, she did not have the right to add additional new parties to her initial Complaint outside of the statute of limitations. "Rule 15(a) only permits an existing plaintiff to add, modify, delete, or change claims against an existing defendant." *Valentine v. Davis*, 319 S.C. 169, 172, 460 S.E.2d 218, 219 (Ct. App. 1995). Since Rule 15(a) does not contemplate the addition of new parties, Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, which sought to add three new defendants, was improper and a nullity as to Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr. Therefore, Judge Kelly correctly dismissed the Amended Complaint as to Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley, Jr.

Moreover, even if it was proper, Plaintiff's Amended Complaint does not relate back to the filing date of her original Complaint under Rule 15(c). South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 15(c) allows a party, in certain and specific circumstances, to relate an amended pleading back to the date of the original pleading:

Whenever the claim or defense asserted in the amended pleading arose out of the conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleadings, the amendment relates back to the date of the original pleading.

An amendment changing the party against whom a claim is asserted relates back if the forgoing provision is satisfied and, within the period provided by law for commencing the action against him the party to be brought in by amendment (1) has received such notice of the institution of the action that he will not be prejudiced in maintaining his defense on the merits, and (2) knew or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning the identity of the proper party, the action would have been brought against him.

*See* S.C.R. Civ. P. 15(c). "Rule 15(c) is based on the concept that once litigation involving particular conduct or a given transaction or occurrence has been instituted, the parties are not entitled to the protection of the statute of limitations against the later assertion by amendment of defenses or claims that arise out of the same conduct, transaction, or occurrence as set forth in the original pleading" *See Patton v. Miller*, 420 S.C. 471, 496-97, 804 S.E.2d 252, 265 (2017) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has adopted a four-part test under Rule 15(c), which requires that the following four factors be met to allow a party to relate an amended pleading back to the date of the original pleading:

(1) the basic claim must have arisen out of the conduct set forth in the original pleading; (2) the party to be brought in must have received such notice that it will not be prejudiced in maintaining its defense; (3) that party must or should have known that, but for a mistake concerning identity, the action would have been brought against it; *and* (4) the second and third requirements must have been fulfilled within the prescribed limitations period.

*See Hughes v. Water World Water Slide, Inc.*, 314 S.C. 211, 213-14, 442 S.E.2d 584, 586 (1994) (*quoting Schiavone v. Fortune*, 477 U.S. 21, 29, 106 S.Ct. 2379, 91 L.Ed.2d 18 (1986)).

Under this four-part test, South Carolina courts have consistently limited Rule 15(c) to amendments that either correct a defendant's name or substitute one defendant for another. South Carolina has differentiated the *substitution* of a party from the *addition* of a party. In the latter instance, South Carolina has rejected the application of the relation back doctrine.

For example, in *Jackson v. Doe*, 342 S.C. 552, 537 S.E.2d 567 (Ct. App. 2000), the appellant filed an action against an unknown John Doe driver. Four and a half years after the accident, she sought to amend her complaint to add Milligan as a defendant. This Court concluded that Rule 15(c)'s relation back provision did not apply and that the statute of limitations had expired:

Jackson did not simply correct the defendant's name or substitute one defendant for another. Rather, she *added* Milligan as a defendant because he may have been the driver. **The language of Rule 15(c) clearly speaks to a change in party, not the addition of a defendant to an already existing defendant.** In our view, the addition of a party is not the same as a substitution or change of a party.

342 S.C. 552, 557, 537 S.E.2d 567, 570 (Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis added).

Citing *Jackson*, this Court confirmed the above principles in *Cline v. JE Faulkner Homes, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 367, 397, n.2., 597 S.E.2d 27, 29, n.2 (Ct. App. 2004), stating that "relation back applies **only when an existing party is changed, not when a new party is added to a complaint.**" (Emphasis added). Addressing the statute of limitations issue under Rule 15, *Cline* stated that "because three years had expired by the time Cline named Modular Home as a defendant, his negligence claim against Modular Home was barred by the statute of limitations." *See id.* at 371.

Applying the above principles, the trial judge correctly held that Plaintiff's Amended Complaint — which added new Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley Jr.— could not relate back to the date of her original Complaint. Plaintiff original November 2, 2022 Complaint named only non-entity Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café as a Defendant. On November 7, 2022, the three-year statute of limitations expired. On December 22, 2022, more than a month after the statute of limitations expired, Plaintiff finally filed her first amended complaint adding multiple **new** Defendants: Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley Jr. The Amended Complaint did not simply correct a mistake in the naming of a party. **It named new Defendants.** As a result, the Amended Complaint adding new parties would not relate back to the original commencement of this lawsuit; as a result, Plaintiff's claims against these newly-added Defendants are time barred.

Accepting the facts pled in Plaintiff's Amended Complaint, it is beyond doubt that the three-year statute of limitations for Plaintiff to sue Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley Jr. expired by the time she filed her Amended Complaint. She does not set forth a proper basis for the Court to relate the Amended Complaint back to the original complaint. Therefore, the Court should affirm the trial judge's dismissal of the Amended Complaint at to Defendants Leon Smith, Leon Smith DBA Eats & Sweets Bakery & Café, and Albert Kleckley Jr. because those claims were obviously time-barred.

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